THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

AUG 03 2015

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
The Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000056  
Lower Court Docket No. 11-ALJ-07-0575-CC

Amisub of South Carolina, Inc. d/b/a Piedmont Medical Center  
d/b/a Fort Mill Medical Center ..... Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control  
and The Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hospital Authority, d/b/a Carolinas  
Medical Center-Fort Mill:..... Respondents,

Of whom The Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hospital Authority, d/b/a Carolinas  
Medical Center-Fort Mill, is ..... Appellant.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Administrative Law Court's application of the Certificate of Need Act, State Health Plan, and Project Review Criteria violate the dormant Commerce Clause by awarding the certificate of need (a) to protect an existing hospital from competition from a non-local hospital system; (b) to reduce the amount of South Carolina patients seeking healthcare in North Carolina and other areas outside of York County; and (c) based on an in-state hospital's exclusive ability to transfer beds?
- II. Did the Administrative Law Court erroneously approve Piedmont's proposal to transfer hospital beds without reviewing whether Piedmont's proposal complied with the regulatory criteria established under the State Health Plan's Bed Transfer Provision, and thereby improperly decide certain Project Review Criteria in favor of Piedmont in reliance on Piedmont's ability to transfer hospital beds?
- III. Did the Administrative Law Court erroneously, arbitrarily, or capriciously apply the Certificate of Need Act, State Health Plan, and Project Review Criteria when it awarded a certificate of need by (a) failing to conduct a balanced and complete review of the applicable regulatory criteria; (b) relying on irrelevant and impertinent information to decide certain criteria; and (c) making arbitrary and irrational conclusions that contradict the plain language and statutory and regulatory purposes of the Certificate of Need Act, State Health Plan, and Project Review Criteria?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began approximately ten years ago, in March 2005, when Appellant The Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hospital Authority d/b/a Carolinas Medical Center-Fort Mill (“Carolinas”), Respondent Amisub of South Carolina, Inc. d/b/a Piedmont Medical Center d/b/a Fort Mill Medical Center (“Piedmont”), and a third applicant<sup>1</sup>, Presbyterian Healthcare (“Presbyterian”), filed certificate of need (“CON”) applications with the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) pursuant to the 2004-2005 State Health Plan (“2004-2005 Plan” or “State Health Plan”) (R. pp. 3045-3215) to construct and operate a general acute care hospital in Fort Mill, York County, South Carolina (“Fort Mill CON”). (R. p. 75). Carolinas, a North Carolina-based hospital system<sup>2</sup>, proposed to construct and operate Carolinas Medical Center-Fort Mill (“CMC-FM”), a 64-bed general acute care hospital, consistent with the bed need recognized in the 2004-2005 Plan. (*Id.*) Piedmont initially proposed a 64-bed hospital but later amended its application by seeking to transfer 36 beds from its existing hospital in Rock Hill, Piedmont Medical Center, to its proposed new facility, the Fort Mill Medical Center (“FMCMC”), and thereby construct and operate a 100-bed hospital. (R. pp. 75-76). Piedmont’s hospital in Rock Hill is the sole hospital in York County. (R. p. 3069).

On May 30, 2006, DHEC denied the Fort Mill CON applications of Carolinas and Presbyterian and issued the CON to Piedmont. (R. p. 76). At the time, Piedmont argued and DHEC agreed that only an existing hospital in a county was entitled to apply for a

---

<sup>1</sup> A fourth applicant, Hospital Partners of America (“HPA”), also applied for a 64-bed hospital but HPA did not file a contested case when its application was denied.

<sup>2</sup> Carolinas is a non-profit healthcare system operating in both North Carolina and South Carolina. (R. p. 1320, line 25-p. 1321, line 13). Piedmont is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tenet Healthcare, Inc. (“Tenet”). (R. p. 361, lines 5-16). Tenet is a for-profit, publicly traded company which owns and operates forty-nine (49) hospitals across the United States. (R. p. 345, lines 18-23, p. 361, lines 5-9).

CON to build a new hospital in the county (“Matthews Order”). (R. pp. 1-28). On June 12, 2006, Carolinas and Presbyterian timely requested a contested case (the “First Contested Case”) to challenge DHEC’s decision with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (“ALC”).

In September 2009, Judge Matthews presided over a three week hearing in the First Contested Case. After Carolinas and Presbyterian concluded their cases, Judge Matthews granted their Motions for Summary Judgment on the grounds that DHEC had erroneously adopted Piedmont’s legal argument that only Piedmont, as the existing hospital in York County, was eligible to apply for a new hospital in York County. (R. p. 10). As a result, Judge Matthews remanded the Fort Mill CON applications to DHEC for further review consistent with her instructions to determine “which of the applications, if any, most fully complies with the requirements, goals, and purposes of this article and the State Health Plan, Project Review Criteria, and the regulations adopted by [DHEC].” (R. p. 27).

Piedmont appealed Judge Matthews’s Order to the South Carolina Supreme Court, and Carolinas and Presbyterian cross-appealed. In a decision dated April 8, 2010, the South Carolina Supreme Court dismissed the appeal and remanded to DHEC because Judge Matthews’s Order was not a “final decision” immediately appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610, which limits appellate review to final decisions of the ALC.<sup>3</sup> (R. pp. 29-33).

After DHEC regained jurisdiction over the Fort Mill CON matter, it reviewed the updated CON applications submitted on October 4, 2010 by Carolinas, Presbyterian, and

---

<sup>3</sup> The consolidated appeals went first to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, which referred them for disposition to the South Carolina Supreme Court.

Piedmont under the CON Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-160, *et seq.*), the 2004-2005 Plan, and the applicable Project Review Criteria<sup>4</sup> (S.C. Regs. 61-15 § 802.1, *et seq.*)<sup>5</sup> (R. p. 77). DHEC established the relative importance of the Criteria, listing the most important Criteria first, as follows:

- |        |   |
|--------|---|
| Rank 1 | Compliance with the State Plan (Criterion 1)  |
| Rank 2 | Community Need Documentation (Criteria 2a-2e)<br>Distribution (Accessibility) (Criteria 3a-3g)<br>Distribution (Criterion 22)   |
| Rank 3 | Projected Revenues (Criteria 6a-6b)<br>Projected Expenses (Criterion 7)<br>Net Income (Criterion 9)<br>Financial Feasibility (Criterion 15)<br>Cost Containment (Criteria 16a-16c)<br>Efficiency (Criterion 17) |
| Rank 4 | Record of the Applicant (Criteria 13a, 13b, 13d)<br>Acceptability (Criteria 4a-4c)<br>Adverse Effects on Other Facilities (Criteria 23a-23b)  |

(R. p. 81).

On September 9, 2011, eleven (11) months after the initial submissions by the parties, DHEC awarded the CON to Carolinas and denied a CON to Piedmont and Presbyterian. (R. pp. 2173-2185, 3030-3044). By the time DHEC made its decision on September 9, 2011, DHEC's staff had reviewed extensive material related to the CON applications gathered over more than six years. DHEC's findings supported the following conclusions: (1) Carolinas most fully complies with the Project Review Criteria; (2) Carolinas best justified the implementation of its project because of its

---

<sup>4</sup> The Project Review Criteria are sometimes referred to collectively as the "Criteria," and its singular components are sometimes referred to as the "Criterion."

<sup>5</sup> By consent of all the parties, the ALC established October 4, 2010 as the deadline for the applicants to submit to DHEC any supplemental information. On that date, Carolinas, Piedmont, and Presbyterian submitted extensive supplemental information to DHEC to update their previous applications.

current significant level of market share and utilization in Northern York County; (3) Carolinas' project is financially feasible; and (4) Carolinas' project would increase accessibility and availability of services by shifting its current market share to a facility in South Carolina, resulting in less adverse impact to existing facilities. (*Id.*)

On November 15, 2011, Presbyterian and Piedmont requested a contested case with the ALC to review DHEC's award of the CON to Carolinas (the "Second Contested Case").<sup>6</sup> The Second Contested Case was assigned to Judge S. Phillip Lenski and progressed through a hearing on the merits conducted over fifteen days in March and April 2013. Approximately a year after the hearing, the ALC issued a Final Order dated March 31, 2014 reversing DHEC's decision, issuing the CON to Piedmont instead, and denying the CON to Carolinas (the "Final Order"). (R. pp. 34-72). On April 9, 2014, Carolinas timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Final Order pursuant to ALC Rule 29(d) and Rule 59, SCRCP ("Motion to Reconsider"). (R. pp. 227-249). On May 2, 2014, the ALC vacated the Final Order. (R. p. 73). Over seven months later, on December 15, 2014, the ALC issued the Amended Final Order, maintaining its previous ruling reversing DHEC's decision, granting the CON to Piedmont, and denying the CON to Carolinas. (R. pp. 125-126).

In the Amended Final Order, the ALC expressly stated that its purpose and rationale for awarding the CON to Piedmont was to protect Piedmont from perceived adverse effects of competition from an out-of-state hospital and to reduce the number of South Carolinians who voluntarily seek healthcare from Carolinas at its North Carolina hospitals. (R. pp. 121-122, 124-125). The Amended Final Order contains numerous

---

<sup>6</sup> Presbyterian subsequently withdrew from the Second Contested Case.

findings that awarding the CON to Carolinas will adversely affect Piedmont’s profits, utilization, quality of service, types of services, payor mix, and physician staff. (R. pp. 86-99, 118-120, 124-125). The ALC’s Amended Final Order also favored the existing medical provider in York County, Piedmont, to the detriment of the out-of-state provider, Carolinas, by concluding that Piedmont’s 100-bed facility would better meet future bed need for the area than Carolinas’ 64-bed facility. (R. pp. 100-105, 113, 118-119, 123-124).

Overall, the ALC’s Amended Final Order significantly departs from the conclusions reached by DHEC as to which applicant better meets the Project Review Criteria. In its post-remand decision, DHEC found that Carolinas either better meets or equally meets all Criteria and that Piedmont did not better meet any Criteria. In contrast, the ALC concluded that Carolinas better meets no Criteria and that Piedmont either better or equally meets all Criteria. As demonstrated by the below chart, the ALC reversed DHEC’s findings that Carolinas either better meets or equally meets eighteen Criteria:<sup>7</sup>

Rank	Description	DHEC	Court
Rank 1	Compliance with the State Health Plan	Equal	Equal
Rank 2			
2a	Community Need Documentation	Equal	Piedmont
2b	Population projections	Equal	Piedmont
2c	Service to meet need	Equal	Piedmont
2d	Reduction, elimination or relocation of service	<sup>8</sup>	Piedmont
2e	Current or projected utilization justified	Carolinas	Piedmont

<sup>7</sup> This chart is derived from the Amended Final Order and DHEC’s Fort Mill CON decision letter and Project Review Criteria Analysis. (R. pp. 74-126, 2173-2185).

<sup>8</sup> Criterion 2d applies to Piedmont only because only Piedmont proposes to relocate beds to its proposed facility. Although DHEC made no specific finding about whether Piedmont satisfied Criterion 2d, it stated that it “was concerned with this criterion being adequately demonstrated” because of its concerns that Piedmont’s “high level of projected market share is not reasonable.” (R. p. 2178).

3a	Duplication and modernization	<sup>9</sup>	Equal
3b	Located to serve medically undeserved	Equal	Equal
3c	Location allows for timely delivery of support services	Equal	Equal
3d	No restriction on admissions	Equal	Piedmont
3e	Documentation of access means	Equal	Equal
3f	Access to medically underserved	Carolinas	Piedmont
3g	Provisions for access regardless of ability to pay	Carolinas	Equal
22	Distribution	Carolinas	Piedmont

Rank 3			
6a	Charges	Equal	Equal
6b	Projected Utilization/Expenses	Carolinas	Equal
7	Consistent with Similar Facilities	Equal	Equal
9	Net Income	Carolinas	Equal
15	Financial Feasibility	Carolinas	Equal
16a	Cost Containment	Carolinas	Equal
16b	Lease Alternatives	Equal	Equal
16c	Impact on Costs	Equal	Piedmont
17	Efficiency	Carolinas	Piedmont

Rank 4			
13a	Record of the Applicant	Equal	Equal
13b	Ability to Obtain Financing	Carolinas	Equal <sup>10</sup>
13d	Record of Compliance	Equal	Equal
4a	Acceptability	Equal	Equal
4b	Opposition	Equal	Equal
4c	Possible Transfer Agreements	Equal	Equal
23a	Adverse Impact on Existing Facilities	Carolinas	Piedmont
23b	Adverse Impact on Staffing	Equal	Equal

Carolinas received written notice of the entry of the Amended Final Order on December 15, 2014, and filed its Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on January 14, 2015.

<sup>9</sup> Like Criterion 2d, Criterion 3a applies to Piedmont only. DHEC found that Piedmont did “not adequately justify the duplication of services by the transfer of 36 existing beds in a project with a total project cost of either \$119,808,964, or \$146,522,042 which includes financing cost during construction.” (R. p. 2181).

<sup>10</sup> The ALC made no specific findings of fact or conclusions of law in addressing Criterion 13b. Rather, the ALC determined that both applicants equally meet this Criterion because the parties do not dispute “DHEC’s finding that Piedmont and CHS equally meet” Criterion 13b. (R. p. 117). As indicated by DHEC’s conclusion that Carolinas better meets Criterion 13b (R. p. 2183), though, DHEC made no such finding that Criterion 13b is equally met, and the parties dispute which applicant better meets Criterion 13b.

## ARGUMENT

### **Standard of Review**

On appeal from a final decision of the ALC in a CON contested case, the Court of Appeals “may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the [appellant] have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is: (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; . . . (d) affected by other error of law; . . . or (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B).

**I. THE ALC’S APPLICATION OF THE CON ACT, 2004-2005 PLAN, AND PROJECT REVIEW CRITERIA VIOLATES THE DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE.**

**A. The dormant Commerce Clause prohibits state and local laws and regulations that discriminate against or impermissibly burden interstate commerce.**

The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution grants Congress the power to regulate interstate commerce. *U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 3*. The Commerce Clause “also encompasses an implicit or ‘dormant’ limitation on the authority of the States to enact legislation affecting interstate commerce.” *Healy v. Beer Inst., Inc.*, 492 U.S. 324, 326 n.1 (1986). “The negative or dormant Commerce Clause ‘prohibits economic protectionism – that is, regulatory measures designed to benefit in-state economic interests by burdening out-of-state competitors.’” *Hazardous Waste Treatment Council v. South Carolina*, 945 F.2d 781, 789 (4th Cir. 1991) (quoting *New Energy Co. of Indiana v. Limbach*, 486 U.S. 269, 273-74 (1988)). Thus, the dormant Commerce Clause invalidates state or local “laws that impose commercial barriers or discriminate

against an article of commerce by reason of its origin or destination.” *C & A Carbone, Inc. v. Town of Clarkstown*, 511 U.S. 383, 390 (1994). The principle behind the dormant Commerce Clause is that “the peoples of the several states must sink or swim together, and that in the long run prosperity and salvation are in union and not division.” *Baldwin v. G. A. F. Seelig, Inc.*, 294 U.S. 511, 523 (1935).

As the United States Supreme Court’s jurisprudence has evolved, a two-tier analytical framework has been established for determining whether a state or local law or regulation is invalid under the dormant Commerce Clause: (1) a discrimination tier, and (2) an undue burden tier. *Yamaha Motor Corp. v. Jim’s Motorcycle, Inc.*, 401 F.3d 560, 567 (4th Cir. 2005). Under the first tier, a court must consider whether the law or regulation discriminates against interstate commerce by providing “differential treatment of in-state and out-of-state economic interests that benefits the former and burdens the latter.” *Colon Health Ctrs. of Am., LLC v. Hazel*, 733 F.3d 535, 543 (4th Cir. 2013). “Discrimination against interstate commerce in favor of local business or investment is *per se* invalid, save in a narrow class of cases in which the [state or] municipality can demonstrate, under rigorous scrutiny, that it has no other means to advance a legitimate local interest.” *Carbone*, 511 U.S. at 392.

A law or regulation may discriminate “facially, in its practical effect, or in its purpose.” *Colon Health Ctrs.*, 733 F.3d at 543. Accordingly, “merely noting a law’s facial neutrality is insufficient” in analyzing whether a law or regulation discriminates against interstate commerce. *Id.* “The principal focus of inquiry must be the practical operation of the statute, since the validity of state laws must be judged chiefly in terms of their probable effects.” *Id.* Thus, a facially neutral law may discriminate against

interstate commerce in violation of the dormant Commerce Clause if it is applied to effectively protect or is intended to protect existing in-state interests from out-of-state competition. *Walgreen Co. v. Rullan*, 405 F.3d 50, 57 (1st Cir. 2005).

Even if a law is not discriminatory under the first tier, it may nevertheless violate the dormant Commerce Clause if it unduly burdens interstate commerce. *Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc.*, 397 U.S. 137 (1970). Under the *Pike* framework, “[w]here a statute regulates even-handedly to effectuate a legitimate local purpose, and its effects on interstate commerce are only incidental, it will be upheld unless the burden imposed on such commerce is clearly excessive in relation to the putative local benefits.” *Id.* at 142. Unlike the more exacting standard employed under the discrimination tier, the undue burden tier applies a “less strict scrutiny”:

The putative benefits of a challenged law are evaluated under the rational basis test, though “speculative” benefits will not pass muster. The *Pike* test requires closer examination, however, when a court assesses a statute’s burdens, especially when the burdens fall predominantly on out-of-state interests. The test is therefore deferential but not toothless.

*Colon Health Ctrs.*, 733 F.3d at 545 (internal citations omitted). If the law imposes a burden on interstate commerce, the court must then engage in a balancing approach to resolve whether the local interest “could be promoted as well with a lesser impact on interstate activities.” *Pike*, 397 U.S. at 142.

**B. State and local certificate of need and licensing laws and regulations are invalid under the dormant Commerce Clause if they have the effect and purpose of protecting local economic interests against competition from non-local economic interests.**

Beginning in the early twentieth century, courts began invalidating under the dormant Commerce Clause state and local certificate of need and licensing laws and regulations that protect existing local or in-state interests against competition from non-

local or out-of-state interests. *See, e.g., Buck v. Kuykendall*, 267 U.S. 307, 316 (1925) (invalidating certificate of need aimed at prohibiting competition because its “effect upon [interstate] commerce is not merely to burden it but to obstruct it”). Later, in *H.P. Hood & Sons, Inc. v. Du Mond*, 336 U.S. 525 (1949), the Supreme Court invalidated a New York law that provided that a license to operate a milk receiving depot could not be granted by the New York Commissioner of Agriculture and Markets “unless the commissioner is satisfied that . . . the issuance of the license will not tend to a destructive competition in a market already served, and that the issuance of the license is in the public interest.” *Id.* at 527 n. 3 (quoting N.Y. Agric. Mkts. Law § 258-c). In that case, H.P. Hood, a Massachusetts corporation which sold milk in Massachusetts and already maintained three milk receiving depots in New York, applied for a license for a fourth depot. The commissioner denied the application on the grounds that the new depot would “tend to a destructive competition in a market already adequately served.” *Id.* at 529. Hood sued, and the United States Supreme Court ruled that the New York statute, as applied, violated the dormant Commerce Clause by discriminating against interstate commerce. According to the Supreme Court, the Commissioner’s objective of preventing Hood from taking business from local businesses was impermissible because it was based “upon the sole and specific grounds that it will subject others to competition and take supplies needed locally, an end . . . always held to be precluded by the Commerce Clause.” *Id.* at 542. In so holding, the Supreme Court declared that a “state may not use its admitted powers to protect the health and safety of its people as a basis for suppressing competition.” *Id.* at 538.

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