THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT AUG 03 2015  
The Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000056

Amisub of South Carolina, Inc., d/b/a Piedmont Medical Center,  
d/b/a Fort Mill Medical Center .....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control  
and The Charlotte Mecklenburg Hospital Authority, d/b/a Carolinas  
Medical Center-Fort Mill .....Respondents,

Of whom The Charlotte Mecklenburg Hospital Authority, d/b/a Carolinas  
Medical Center-Fort Mill, is.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

Moreover, adverse impact under South Carolina law and the ALC’s application of that law is closely tied to the purposes of the CON Act: maintaining or increasing the quality of services, cost containment, avoiding unnecessary duplication, and meeting public needs. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-120. In *Walgreen*, the Commonwealth failed even to offer any such justifications for its vague “saturation” regulation. Under these specific facts and circumstances the court concluded that the purpose of the Puerto Rican law was “simply to limit competition.” *Id.* at 57.

None of the other cases CHS relies on are CON cases and none involve the provision of healthcare services, with the exception of *Colon Health Ctrs. I*, discussed *supra* at 23-24. Despite citing *Colon Health Ctrs. I*, CHS rejects its emphasis on an in-

state versus out-of-state benefit and burden analysis, instead arguing that the proper inquiry is local versus non-local. CHS Initial Brief at 27-28. The cases CHS cites in support of that proposition involve slaughterhouses (*Brimmer v. Rebman*, 138 U.S. 78 (1891)); milk processing (*Dean Milk Co. v. City of Madison*, 340 U.S. 349 (1951); *H.P. Hood and Sons, Inc. v Du Mond*, 336 U.S. 525 (1949)); stevedore licenses (*Fla. Trans. Services II*); waste disposal (*C&A Carbone, Inc. v. Town of Clarkstown*, 511 U.S. 383 (1994); *Fort Gratiot Sanitary Landfill, Inc. vs. Mich. Dept. of Natural Resources*, 504 U.S. 353 (1992)); and retail pharmacy services (*Walgreen*).

None of these cases, including *Walgreen*, involved a situation where, absent the challenged law, specialized healthcare services (or any services) would be reduced or discontinued within a county, forcing residents to travel out of the county to receive such services, to the particular disadvantage of medically underserved patients. See Am. Final Order at 23-24, FF 49-53; at 51-52, CL 46-47.

In *Dean Milk*, the court struck down a city ordinance requiring that all milk sold in Madison, Wisconsin be processed within five miles of the city. *Id.* at 350, 356. There was no suggestion that absent the ordinance, citizens of Madison would be unable to buy any milk locally. The Madison ordinance was struck down because, in practical effect, it excluded from sale in Madison milk “produced and pasteurized in Illinois.” *Id.* at 297-98. Because the ordinance plainly discriminated against interstate commerce, it was immaterial whether it also discriminated against Wisconsin milk processors outside the Madison area. *Id.* at 298 n.4 and accompanying text.

In *Hood*, another milk case, the court struck down a state law regulating licenses for milk plants. Although the plaintiff met all criteria for a license, its

application was denied on grounds that issuance would “tend to a destructive competition.” *Id.* at 660. Again, there was no evidence that granting the plaintiff a license would force locals to go elsewhere to buy milk.

*Brimmer*, a decision from 1891, involved a Norfolk, Virginia ordinance which essentially imposed a tax on the sale of meat from animals slaughtered over 100 miles from the city. *Id.* at 82. There was no evidence, however, that striking down the ordinance would mean residents of Norfolk would necessarily have to drive 100 miles to buy meat or else resign themselves to a vegetarian diet.

In *Fla. Trans. II*, 703 F.3d 1230, the court of appeals affirmed a district court decision invalidating (under the undue burden test) a county ordinance regulating stevedore permits. The Port Director who administered the permit program “did not abide by the ordinance,” but instead, automatically renewed permits of existing permit holders – even those not providing services – and repeatedly denied permits to new applicants. *Id.* at 1236-37. The Port Director justified his decisions by superficial “needs assessments” that “did not address any of the other ordinance requirements, such as the applicant’s competency, financial ability, or safety record.” *Id.* at 1239 (*cf.* R. pp. 117-125) (evaluating both applicants on all relevant regulatory criteria). Again, there was no evidence or suggestion that invalidating the law would result in the loss or reduction of stevedore services for the Port of Miami.

The ordinance struck down in *Carbone*, like the statute struck down in *Fort Gratiot*, involved the processing of waste. CHS analogizes the processing of waste to the provision of services to hospital patients – an especially poor comparison. See CHS Initial Brief at 22. *Carbone*’s ordinance required local waste processing, while *Fort*

*Gratiot's* statute prohibited it. The invalidation of neither law resulted in waste going unprocessed or in citizens having to drive long distances to obtain waste processing services.

A review of all the cases cited by CHS to support its emphasis on local versus non-local businesses merely highlights that South Carolina's CON law is appropriately tailored to ensure access to medical services for all of the state's citizens. It does not "avoid the strictures of the Commerce Clause by curtailing the movement of articles of commerce through subdivisions of the State, rather than through the State itself." *Fort Gratiot* at 361. Rather than arbitrarily targeting the movement of goods or services across political boundaries, the South Carolina CON law - as written and as applied here - takes a balanced approach to ensure that medical services are distributed such that all citizens have the reasonable access that they need.

2. **South Carolina CON laws, as written and as applied, serve a legitimate local purpose that could not be served as well by available nondiscriminatory means.**

Even if a state law does discriminate against interstate commerce, it will be upheld against a dormant Commerce Clause challenge if it serves a legitimate local purpose that could not be served as well by available nondiscriminatory means. *Maine v. Taylor*, 477 U.S. 131, 138 (1986).

In *Maine v. Taylor*, a state law prohibited the importation of live baitfish. Despite finding that the statute discriminated against interstate commerce, the Supreme Court concluded it did not violate the dormant Commerce Clause. Deferring to factual findings by the district court, the Supreme Court ruled that the Maine statute was supported by a legitimate purpose: to protect native fisheries from parasitic infection

and adulteration by non-native species. *Id.* at 142-43, 151. Again relying on the lower court's fact findings, the Supreme Court held that the legitimate purposes behind the state law could not be served as well by available nondiscriminatory means. *Id.* at 143, 146-47, 151.

By contrast, the existence of nondiscriminatory alternatives played a substantial role in many of the cases cited by CHS. For example, the public health justification for the ban on milk processed outside a certain radius struck down in *Dean Milk* would have been better served by a law that simply made all milk subject to same local safety regulations. *Id.* at 354-55. Similarly, the *Fort Gratiot* Court struck down a flat ban on out-of-county waste, noting the availability of non-discriminatory alternatives such as imposing limits on amounts of waste, rather than on its geographic origin. *Fort Gratiot* at 367.

South Carolina CON laws, as written and as applied in this case, serve legitimate state purposes: cost containment, prevention of unnecessary duplication, meeting public needs, and quality control. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-120. Under the facts of this case, as determined by the ALC with the support of substantial evidence, those purposes could not have been served as well by other available means. Indeed, CHS does not suggest that any "nondiscriminatory" alternatives to the law exist that would adequately meet the stated purpose of the ALC's ruling: to ensure the continued provision of needed services within reach of all York County residents. Rather, CHS ignores this stated purpose and erroneously paints the ALC's ruling as simple economic protectionism.

**B. The Undue Burden Test**

As discussed above, South Carolina CON laws, as written and as applied in this case, do not discriminate against interstate commerce. Any effect on interstate commerce is incidental. As a result, the challenged order must be upheld “unless the burden imposed on such commerce is clearly excessive in relation to the putative local benefits.” *Pike* at 142. Rather than demonstrate any burden on interstate commerce, CHS has demonstrated that the ALC’s ruling burdens only CHS, by denying its application in one particular instance. Such a limited “burden” on a single out-of-state entity cannot outweigh the significant benefit sought by the CON law and the ALC Order: protecting York County residents from the diminishment and elimination of accessible medical services.

In *Yakima*, the court granted summary judgment for defendants in an as-applied challenge to a state CON law requiring annual minimum volume for certain catheterization procedures. The court noted the special deference given state health and safety regulations. *Id.* at \*5. The court also observed that the *Pike* test is not concerned with *actual* benefits, but “putative” ones. *Id.* at \*11 n.6 (defining “putative” as “supposed” and noting that use of the word in *Pike* “further signals that courts are to give deference to the asserted benefits of states’ public-safety laws”), *citing Nat’l Ass’n of Optoms.* at 8.

CHS cites only two undue burden cases in support of its argument: *Fla. Trans. II*, which has already been distinguished, and *Medigen of Kentucky, Inc. v. Public Service Commission of West Virginia*, 985 F.2d 164 (4th Cir. 1993). In *Medigen*, another waste case, a West Virginia law required transporters of infectious medical

waste to obtain certificates in order to haul it through the state. The law prohibited issuance of the certificates unless current service was inadequate. *Id.* at 166. Defendants conceded that the law imposed a significant burden on interstate commerce. *Id.* The court found that the goal of the law – “providing universal service at reasonable rates” – was reasonable, but that the law did not accomplish that goal. *Id.* at 167 (“Restricting market entry . . . necessarily *limits* the available service . . . and does nothing to insure that services are provided at reasonable prices”) (emphasis in original). Striking down the law in *Medigen* did not diminish the waste transportation services in the state, since the law itself “limit[ed] the number of medical waste transporters from which a medical waste generator can seek service.” *Id.*

In the present case, the putative local benefits include the perpetuation of high quality, specialized healthcare services within York County. In relation to these benefits, any incidental burden on interstate commerce cannot reasonably be viewed as “clearly excessive.” In fact, CHS has not demonstrated that any burden on interstate commerce will result, only that one company – CHS itself – will not be allowed to refer all or nearly all patients requiring specialized services and covered by private insurance out of the county. *See Exxon* at 127 (holding that a court should focus on interstate commerce – not merely “the specific parties before it”).

#### **IV. The ALC Did Not Err in Approving Piedmont’s Bed Transfer.**

As discussed in relation to CHS’s dormant Commerce Clause argument, Piedmont’s proposal to transfer 36 of its existing, but unused, beds to FMMC was appropriate and fair. *See supra* at 16-17. CHS further argues that the ALC failed to consider or address State Health Plan criteria for Piedmont’s bed transfer. CHS Initial

Brief at 29-30; (See R. p. 4016, 4017). CHS did not raise this issue (the ALC's failure to consider or address the criteria in its Final Order) at trial or in a post-trial motion. It is not, therefore, preserved for appeal. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526, S.E.2d 716 (2000); *Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E.2d 388 (1995).

In any event, the Plan transfer criteria do not apply to Piedmont's proposal, which is simply a transfer of beds between divisions of the same legal entity. (R. p. 361, lines 10-23). The Plan criteria apply to transfers between affiliated, but separate, legal entities, as evidenced by criterion 7, which requires a "written contract or agreement between the governing bodies of the affected facilities." Piedmont Medical Center and Fort Mill Medical Center are simply "d/b/a's" of Amisub of South Carolina, Inc., which has only one governing body. (R. p. 2203). Amisub cannot contract with itself.

Even if the Plan's transfer criteria were applicable, every individual criterion whose substance CHS raised at trial or in its post-trial motion was ruled on by the ALC. The eight criteria are listed below and discussed in turn.

- 1) A transfer or exchange of beds may be approved only if there is no overall increase in the number of beds.

CHS never raised the issue that Piedmont's transfer would increase the number of beds in the county, so it is not preserved for appeal. It is undisputed that a transfer would not increase the number of beds.

- 2) Such transfers may cross county lines; however the applicants must document with patient origin data the historical utilization of the receiving facility by residents of the county giving up beds.

CHS never raised this issue and the criterion is not applicable since Piedmont's transfer would not cross a county line.

- 3) Should the response to Criterion 2 fail to show a historical precedence of residents of the county transferring the beds utilizing the receiving facility, the applicants must document why it is in the best interest of these residents to transfer the beds to a facility with no historical affinity for them.

CHS never raised this issue and the criterion is not applicable since Piedmont's transfer would not cross a county line.

- 4) The applicants must explain the impact of transferring the beds on the health care delivery system of the county from which the beds are to be taken; any negative impacts must be detailed along with the perceived benefits of such an agreement.

This issue was raised by CHS and ruled on by the ALC. (R. p. 2152-2153; pp. 101-102, FF 67; p. 118, CL 18).

- 5) The facility receiving the beds must demonstrate the need for the additional capacity based on both historical and projected utilization patterns.

This issue was raised by CHS and ruled on by the ALC. (R. p. 118, CL 18).

- 6) The facility giving up the beds may not use the loss of these beds as justification for a subsequent request for the approval of additional beds.

CHS never raised the issue that Piedmont would use the transfer as justification for a future request for additional beds, so the issue is not preserved for appeal.

- 7) A written contract or agreement between the governing bodies of the affected facilities approving the transfer or exchange of beds must be included in the Certificate of Need application.

CHS never raised the issue that Piedmont has failed to enter into such a contract, so the issue is not preserved for appeal. Moreover, this criterion is not applicable to Piedmont's transfer because Piedmont Medical Center and FMMC are

merely two business names of the same legal entity, Amisub of South Carolina, Inc., which has one governing body and cannot contract with itself.

- 8) Each facility giving up beds must acknowledge in writing that this exchange is permanent; any further transfers would be subject to this same process.

CHS never raised the issue that Piedmont has failed to make such an acknowledgement, so the issue is not preserved for appeal.

**V. The ALC's Application of South Carolina CON Law was Not Erroneous, Arbitrary, or Capricious.**

**A. The ALC Reviews Factual Issues De Novo and its Findings are Reviewed Under the Substantial Evidence Rule.**

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